

Christopher T. Begeny¹*, C.Y. Edwina Wong², Teri A. Kirby ¹, Floor Rink²

* corresponding author (C.Begeny@exeter.ac.uk)

¹University of Exeter, Department of Psychology

² University of Groningen, Faculty of Economics and Business

Suggested Reference

Begeny, C. T., Wong, C. Y. E., Kirby, T. A., & Rink, F. (2021). Gender, race, and leadership. *Oxford Encyclopedia of Psychology*. Oxford University Press.

This article has been accepted in its current form for publication in the

Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology

This is the author's version of the work. It is posted here for personal use, not for redistribution.

Table of Contents

Summary

Keywords

Introduction

Gender and Racial Discrimination in Leadership

Discrimination on the Path to Leadership

Evaluations, Pay, and Hiring/Promotion Recommendations

Mentorship, Support, and Skill Development

Backlash Effects

Work-Family Dynamics, Motherhood Penalties, and Fatherhood Bonuses

Tokenism

Discrimination at the Point of Leadership

Evaluations and Pay

Glass Cliffs

Disparate Internal States

Stereotype Threat, Lift, and Boost

Internalization of Stereotypes

Motivation

Why Gender and Racial Discrimination in Leadership Occurs

Stereotypes and Perceived Incongruity

Other Mechanisms Underpinning Discrimination

Critical Directions for Advancing Research on Gender, Race, and Leadership

Utilizing Intersectional Approaches

Unique Gender-by-Race Stereotypes

Gendered Races

Intersectional Invisibility

Other Key Research at the Intersection of Gender and Race

Considering Other Social Identities

Developing and Testing Strategies for Addressing Gender- and Race-based Inequities

Diversity Messaging and Cues

Overview of Other Strategies

Resources for Implementing Strategies

Conclusions

References

Summary

Leaders exist in myriad types of groups. Yet in many of them – including in organizational, political, and educational domains – leadership roles are disproportionately occupied by individuals of certain social categories (e.g., men, whites). Speaking to this imbalance in representation, there is a wealth of theory and research indicating that gender and race are key to understanding: (i) who tends to get placed in leadership roles, and (ii) what an individual's experience will be like while in that role, or on the path to it. In part, this is because there are commonly held stereotypes that make certain individuals – often those of socially dominant racial and gender groups - seem better suited for leadership. By comparison, individuals of other genders and races are often perceived and evaluated as less suitable, and treated as such (e.g., deprived of opportunities to become leaders or develop leadership skills). These stereotypes can also elicit disparate internal states (e.g., stereotype threat, internalized negative self-perceptions) that affect individuals' likelihood of pursuing or obtaining such roles (e.g., by affecting their motivation, performance). In this way, leadership dynamics are intimately connected to the study of gender and race. Overall, these dynamics involve several psychological processes. This includes myriad forms of gender and racial bias – discrimination in evaluations, pay, hiring, and promotions, and in access to role models, mentorship, and support; backlash effects; queen bee effects (self-group distancing); glass cliff effects; motherhood penalties; fatherhood bonuses. It also involves multiple lines of theorizing – role congruity theory; lack of fit; masculine defaults and ambient belonging; modern sexism; aversive racism; social identity threat, and others.

Looking ahead, there are several critical directions for advancing research on gender, race, and leadership. This includes examining leadership processes from a more precise, intersectional lens - rather than studying the implications of one's gender or race in isolation (e.g., by integrating work on intersectionality theory, gendered races, and intersectional invisibility). Future study of these processes will also need to consider other relevant social identities (e.g., reflecting class, religion, age, sexuality, ability and neurodiversity, nationality and immigration status), along with a more thorough consideration of gender – going beyond the study of (cisgender) men and women to consider how transgender and gender-nonconforming individuals are perceived and treated in leadership roles, or on the path to such roles. Additionally, and ultimately, it will be critical to develop effective strategies for addressing the underrepresentation of women, racial and ethnic minorities, and other social groups in leadership. In part this will mean carefully evaluating strategies now being employed (e.g., organizational diversity messages, quotas and affirmative action, mentorship programs) – some of which may be largely ineffective, if not causing harm (e.g., implicit bias training, campaigning for women to "lean in"). Addressing the lack of diversity in leadership will be a crucial step towards tackling broader issues of social inequity.

Keywords

Gender, Race, Ethnicity, Leadership, Stereotypes, Discrimination, Bias, Intersectionality, Diversity, Interventions

Introduction

Women and racial/ethnic minorities are often underrepresented in leadership positions, including in work organizations, academia, and politics (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019; Catalyst, 2020; ENAR, 2017, 2019). For example, women make up half of the workforce in the European Union and United States but only 30% of all managers (Catalyst, 2020). Racial and ethnic minorities are similarly underrepresented in leadership roles (e.g., making up 39% of the US population but only 12% of all executives; 13% of the UK population but only 7% of executives; Hunt et al., 2018). Speaking to these long-standing disparities in representation, there is now a wealth of theory and research that help explain the dynamics between gender, race, and leadership, including how and why individuals' gender and race impact their likelihood of being placed in leadership roles.

It is important to recognize, however, that if one only considers gender and racial dynamics among those who are *in* positions of leadership, they are only seeing the tip of the iceberg. It misses the fact that individuals' gender and race also affect the likelihood they will *ever be near* a leadership role. Thus, to understand what is happening at the point of leadership (e.g., who is represented in such roles) one must consider the *path to leadership* as well. For instance, in the workplace, how do individuals' race and gender affect their chances of getting fairly evaluated at each stage of their career (e.g., in terms of competence, abilities, leadership potential)? How do individuals' race and gender affect the opportunities they are given to develop leadership-relevant skills, or their access to mentors and role models? Therefore, to fully understand the dynamics between gender, race, and leadership it is important to not only consider theory and research that has leadership as its explicit 'end product,' but also that which explains how gender and race shape the 'pipeline' to higher level positions more generally. In other words, it is important to not only consider the effects of gender and race: (i) *at the point of leadership*, but also (ii) *on the path to leadership*.

Before going forward, it is also important to keep in mind that, to date, research on gender, race, and leadership has often been carried out in Western contexts and cultures – where men and/or whites are often overrepresented in and seen as 'the norm' for leadership roles. This body of research has also been carried out largely in organizational contexts, including workplaces and academic institutions. As a result, much of what is discussed in the proceeding sections reflects that limited knowledge base. The processes described here may function similarly in other contexts and cultures, but may also differ in important ways (Henrich et al., 2010; Morley & Crossouard, 2016; Stamkou et al., 2019).

Gender and Racial Discrimination in Leadership

An individual's gender and race can impact how others perceive, evaluate, and treat them. This bias emerges not only in the form of disadvantage (e.g., for women, racial minorities) but also in the form of unjustified *advantage* (e.g., for men, whites). For example, in pursuit of leadership positions women can encounter *glass ceilings*, *glass cliffs*, and *motherhood penalties*, while men can encounter *glass elevators* and *fatherhood bonuses*; racial minorities similarly encounter underestimations of their competence and leadership potential, while whites benefit from *over*estimations (see proceeding sections for more on these processes). Both forms of bias – being unjustly disadvantaged, and unjustly advantaged – contribute to discriminatory outcomes.

Discrimination on the Path to Leadership

As noted, discrimination that manifests at the point of leadership is in some ways just the tip of the iceberg. It misses the fact that individuals' gender and race can affect the likelihood they will *ever be near* a leadership role. Thus, to understand some of the gender and racial dynamics occurring 'at the top' (in leadership roles) it is key to consider what happens further down – at the various stages that may lead individuals to leadership, or thwart their path to it.

Evaluations, Pay, and Hiring/Promotion Recommendations.

In many work contexts, women and racial minorities are evaluated as less competent and worthy of being hired for positions compared to men and whites, which can be a barrier on the path toward higher status and leadership roles. A meta-analysis of over 100 controlled experimental studies – comparing men and women statistically matched in their qualifications and experience, if not absolutely identical in every way aside from their purported name/gender – show that women are evaluated as less competent, hireable, and promotable compared to men, and are advised to receive lower salaries than men, particularly in male-dominated professions (e.g., in several STEMM professions; Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics & Medicine). In traditionally female-dominated professions, neither women nor men are systematically favored (Koch et al., 2015). In professions once male-dominated – yet where women have now become well-represented – men are still favored (e.g., evaluated as more competent; Begeny et al., 2020; similarly, see Grunspan et al., 2016).

In the context of race, evidence similarly shows that discrimination has and continues to occur in evaluations and hiring practices, with very little decline in the pervasiveness of discrimination in the past 25 years (particularly toward Black individuals; Quilliana et al., 2017). For instance, meta-analyses of controlled field experiments conducted in the US between 1989 and 2015 show that whites received 36% more job-related callbacks on average compared to Black individuals (e.g., following submission of a resume where the name on it was randomized to either signal that the job applicant was Black or white).

Additional research on these and other similar forms of gender and racial discrimination are available (Atir & Ferguson, 2018; Bedi et al., 2012; Brower & James, 2020; Dovidio & Gaertner, 2000; Ellemers, 2014; Heilman & Haynes, 2005; Holleran et al., 2011; Joshi et al., 2015; Régner et al., 2019; M. K. Ryan et al., 2020; Shen, 2013; Treviño et al., 2018; Ziegert & Hanges, 2005).

Mentorship, Support, and Skill Development.

Discrimination can also manifest in the opportunities that an individual is afforded to develop new skills and receive mentorship and support (e.g., by managers at work), which can be vital to advancing their path toward leadership roles. For example, managers in traditionally maledominated professions are less willing to give female employees opportunities to develop new skills, compared to identical male employees (e.g., opportunities to take on new supervisory responsibilities; Begeny et al., 2020). They are also less likely to offer support and encouragement to those female employees when they express interest in pursuing a promotion. Similarly, in academic institutions, research scientists in biology, chemistry, and physics are less willing to offer career mentorship to female job applicants, compared to identical male applicants (Moss-Racusin et al., 2012). Women and racial minorities working in academic fields within STEMM also have less access to support (e.g., mentoring, peer networks, external funding) and

skill development opportunities (e.g., speaking invitations, editorial positions), while also carrying a disproportionate load of responsibilities that are *not* valued or important to career development (e.g., higher teaching loads, expectations to take on uncompensated service roles; for an overview, see NASEM, 2019, 2020) – all of which represent added barriers along the path toward higher status and leadership roles.

Notably, this type of discriminatory treatment is not expressed exclusively by those who belong to dominant social groups. For instance, while there are men who express discrimination toward women, there are also some women who express discrimination toward female colleagues (Begeny et al., 2020; Moss-Racusin et al., 2012). In a similar vein, research on the *queen bee phenomenon* shows that women in male-dominated or masculine-typed contexts and occupations often receive less mentorship and support, including from some women in higher standing positions. This is in part because women in higher standing positions may respond to the discrimination that they themselves have experienced by distancing from other more junior women – an insight that has prompted some to suggest it is more useful and precise to refer to this phenomenon as *self-group distancing*, rather than a 'queen bee effect' (Faniko et al., 2020; van Veelen et al., 2020). For more detail, see Derks et al. (2016).

Additional research on inequities in mentoring and other forms of support is available (e.g., Morgenroth et al., 2015; Tharenou, 2001; van Laar et al., 2019; Xu, 2008).

Backlash Effects.

Another barrier on the path to leadership comes in the form of *backlash effects* (for a review, see Rudman & Phelan, 2008). This is when individuals experience reprisals or 'backlash' for acting in counter-stereotypical ways. For example, women are not stereotyped as particularly agentic (relative to men; e.g., assertive, ambitious), which is a trait that is often considered vital for leaders to have. In response, women may try to demonstrate agentic qualities; yet because prescriptive stereotypes also state that women *should not be* agentic, women's attempts to demonstrate agency can result in others reacting negatively toward them. Consequences include being seen as unlikable, and lowering their chances of being hired for leadership positions. As Rudman and Phelan (2008) note, "backlash can undermine women at every stage of their career." Backlash effects have also been found in political spheres (Okimoto & Brescoll, 2010) and along racial lines (Phelan & Rudman, 2010). Though, backlash effects are not always evident in every context (Amanatullah & Morris, 2010; Bongiorno et al., 2014; M. J. Williams & Tiedens, 2016).

Work-Family Dynamics, Motherhood Penalties, and Fatherhood Bonuses.

Individuals' paths to higher standing positions, particularly in organizational contexts, are also affected by work-family dynamics. For instance, when working women become mothers — or when the mere fact that they are mothers becomes known to others — they are perceived as less competent, less hireable, and are less likely to be recommended for promotion and leadership opportunities (compared to women who are not [known to be] mothers), suggesting a motherhood penalty (for more on why this effect occurs, see section, Stereotypes and Perceived Incongruity, along with the literature cited in the current section). By comparison, when working men become fathers, there is no such penalty. If anything, they receive a fatherhood bonus: a boost in others' willingness to hire and promote them, pay them more, and give them leadership

opportunities (Budig & England, 2001; Correll et al., 2007; Cuddy et al., 2004; Heilman & Okimoto, 2008). While the implications of these work-family dynamics as a function of race need further investigation, there is some evidence that fatherhood bonuses are particularly strong for white men (Hodges & Budig, 2010).

Additional research on this topic is available (e.g., Bear & Glick, 2017; Brescoll & Uhlmann, 2005; Fuegen et al., 2004; Morgenroth, Ryan, et al., 2020; Morgenroth & Heilman, 2017; Rivera, 2017).

Tokenism.

Tokenism refers to circumstances where a member of a certain social category is 'the only one' (or one of very few; e.g., women) in that position or situation. In other words, members of that social category are not wholly absent or blocked from that domain, group, or role, but are severely limited and thus nominal in representation (Kanter, 1977; Wright, 2001). For members of such a category, the implications of being a "token" can be multiple, including more negative evaluations of one's work performance (Sackett et al., 1991). In this way, negative experiences and evaluations that arise from being a "token" can be an added obstacle on the path to leadership (for more on tokenism, see Cohen & Swim, 1995; Danaher & Branscombe, 2010; Heilman & Blader, 2001; P. B. Jackson et al., 1995; Kanter, 1977; Niemann & Dovidio, 1998; Richard & Wright, 2010).

Discrimination at the Point of Leadership

The previous section, *Discrimination on the Path to Leadership*, illustrates many of the ways in which gender and racial discrimination affect individuals' paths to potential leadership. In this section, we describe evidence that gender and racial discrimination do not stop there. Even for those who attain a leadership role, discrimination remains a potent force. It is also important to note that in addition to the forms of discrimination discussed in this section, many of those described in the previous section, as occurring 'on the path to leadership,' also occur at the point of leadership (e.g., differential access to mentorship and support, backlash effects).

Evaluations and Pay.

One manifestation of gender and racial discrimination is in how leaders are evaluated. For instance, male leaders tend to be evaluated as more effective than female leaders, especially in traditionally male-dominated contexts, and when leaders display stereotypically masculine behaviors (e.g., an autocratic leadership style; Eagly et al., 1992; Johnson et al., 2008; also see Bigelow et al., 2014). When displaying stereotypically feminine behaviors (e.g., individualized consideration for lower status members), there is some evidence that female leaders are favored over male leaders (Eagly & Carli, 2003). However, other evidence indicates that male leaders continue to be evaluated more positively in these circumstances (Hentschel et al., 2018; also see Heilman & Chen, 2005; Shaughnessy et al., 2015).

Similarly, with regards to race, white leaders are often evaluated more favorably than non-white leaders. For example, white leaders tend to be evaluated more positively, seen as more effective, and as having more potential than non-white leaders in organizational contexts (Knight et al., 2003; Rosette et al., 2008; Sy et al., 2010). In a similar vein, compared to non-white individuals, whites are seen as more leader-like (i.e., there is a stronger implicit association between white names and leadership roles [e.g., manager], and leadership traits [e.g., decisiveness]; Gündemir

et al., 2014). It is important to note that while white leaders tend to be evaluated more favourably than leaders of multiple other racial/ethnic groups, including both Black and Asian American leaders, the reasons why white leaders are evaluated more positively (compared to Black *versus* Asian American leaders) may vary. In other words, differing sets of biases can exist toward different racial/ethnic minority groups, yet with each resulting in discriminatory evaluations (see, e.g., Sy et al., 2010).

Discrimination also manifests in leaders' pay (for general statistics, see Longhi & Brynin, 2017; PayScale, 2020). For example, in academic medicine female leaders receive lower salaries than male leaders with equivalent rank and responsibilities, which also holds true when comparing men and women who are statistically matched on a host of factors (e.g., number of publications, area of specialty, institution type; Jagsi et al., 2012). Similarly, in the for-profit sector male versus female board of directors receive higher compensation, even when matched in terms of role, industry, and size of company (Kulich et al., 2011).

Pay disparities exist along racial lines as well. For example, when comparing Black and white managers/supervisors matched on various characteristics, Black individuals make less than their white counterparts – a pattern than remains largely consistent in higher-level leadership positions as well (e.g., among directors, executives; PayScale, 2020a).

Additional research on this and related topics are available. This includes evaluations of male versus female leaders based on their competence versus potential, their tendency to express emotions, and evaluations in the aftermath of some failure (e.g., Brescoll, 2016; Ellemers et al., 2012; Gündemir, Carton, et al., 2019; Heilman & Okimoto, 2007; Hoyt & Burnette, 2013; Hutchinson et al., 2017; Lyness & Heilman, 2006; Montgomery & Cowen, 2020; Player et al., 2019; Vial et al., 2016).

Glass Cliffs.

The *glass cliff* (M. K. Ryan & Haslam, 2005, 2007) is a phenomenon whereby women and racial minorities are more likely to be appointed to leadership positions when an organization is facing some crisis (e.g., declining performance, a lack of adequate resources). Thus, even when women and minorities get placed in leadership positions, having broken through the *glass ceiling* (a barrier to higher standing positions; Barreto et al., 2009), they may be placed in those positions that are most precarious or prone to failure, thus hurting their ability to be, and to demonstrate, effective leadership.

One leading explanation for the glass cliff is that it reflects an expression of gender and/or racial bias – a tendency to set women and racial minorities up for failure, whether done consciously or not. A recent meta-analysis found some support for this explanation, as well as support for the idea that women and racial minorities are appointed in times of crisis as a way of signalling change at the organization (Morgenroth, Kirby, et al., 2020).

Disparate Internal States

On the path to and at the point of leadership, gender and racial biases (real or anticipated) can also produce *disparate internal states* (e.g., internalized negative self-perceptions, threat-induced stress or cognitions) that affect individuals' motivation and ability to strive toward and sustain

leadership positions. In this way, such internal states are an important factor underlying the dynamic between gender, race, and leadership.

Stereotype Threat, Lift, and Boost.

One consequence of experiencing gender or racial bias in a given context, or simply being aware of the *possibility* that gender or racial biases could emerge, is that it can induce *stereotype threat* (Steele, 1997; also see research on social identity threat; e.g., Kaiser & Hagiwara, 2011). This is when members of a stigmatized social group (e.g., women, racial minorities) experience a disruptive internal state (e.g., additional stress, cognitive labor) or sense of 'threat' due to concerns about confirming stereotypes about their group. For example, women and racial minorities sometimes experience stereotype threat when engaging in leadership- or STEMM-related tasks because of a common stereotype that they are relatively incompetent or intellectually inferior to men and whites in these domains (for more detail, see, e.g., the section on *Motivation/Ambition*). Notably, stereotype threat can emerge even if members of these stigmatized groups do not believe the stereotype themselves.

Stereotype threat can have multiple adverse effects (via multiple mechanisms, and with important moderators; for overviews, see Hoyt & Murphy, 2016; Shapiro & Neuberg, 2007; Spencer et al., 2016; Walton et al., 2015). Among others, stereotype threat can negatively affect individuals' performance in that domain. This is important because it helps explain why members of certain social groups – women and racial minorities working in STEMM, for example – may have a particularly difficult time attaining promotions and leadership positions: in part, their performance might seem to suggest they are less competent than their nonstigmatized colleagues (e.g., white men). Critically however, this is not because they are actually less competent. Rather, it is because they face unique, disruptive internal states (e.g., additional stress and cognitive labor induced by stereotype threat) that can adversely affect their ability to perform to their fullest potential. By comparison, their non-stigmatized counterparts do not have to deal with this additional barrier to performance. In fact, evidence indicates that when the possibility of stereotype threat is removed from a context or environment, members of stigmatized groups not only perform as well as their non-stigmatized counterparts but tend to perform better than them (Walton & Spencer, 2009). Note that some evidence also suggests stereotype threat effects may be smaller than originally thought (Zigerell, 2017).

Related to the concept of stereotype threat are *stereotype lift*, and *stereotype boost*. Stereotype lift is when members of *non*-stigmatized groups experience a boost in their performance as a result of making downward comparisons with a stigmatized group in that context (Walton & Cohen, 2003). Stereotype boost is when individuals' performance increases as a result of being exposed to a *positive* stereotype about one of their own social groups (Gaither et al., 2015; Shih et al., 2012; though also see Cheryan & Bodenhausen, 2000). These effects help further explain the distinct paths to and attainment of leadership positions between different genders and races (e.g., when stereotype lift enhances white men's performance), and how those paths and attainment rates might be shifted (e.g., when stereotype boost can help enhance the performance of Asian American women [e.g., via salience of positive stereotypes about Asian individuals' STEMM-related competencies]).

Internalization of Stereotypes.

Another disparate internal state is the internalization of commonly held, negative (or positive) stereotypes about one's own gender or racial category. For example, for stereotypically masculine domains including math-related abilities, men and women tend to internalize the stereotypes of their gender, which is reflected both in implicitly held associations (Nosek et al., 2002; Nosek & Smyth, 2011), and in men's explicit *over*estimations of their math abilities, and women's underestimations of their abilities (Bench et al., 2015). Moreover, this differing tendency helps explain men's stronger interest in and intent to pursue math-related careers (Bench et al., 2015). Thus, the internalization of stereotypes – for instance, when women internalize the belief that they do not have the qualities needed to thrive in STEMM domains – likely contributes to the disparate career paths that men and women pursue, thereby contributing to their underrepresentation within stereotypically feminine and masculine careers respectively, both overall and in leadership roles specifically. Similarly, research indicates that women tend to characterize themselves in other stereotypic terms, including the idea that they are less assertive and less competent in leadership (Hentschel et al., 2019; also see (Barreto et al., 2010; Paustian-Underdahl et al., 2014).

Motivation/Ambition.

Discrimination can also affect individuals' internal motivation to pursue leadership roles. For example, when women are exposed to stereotypic representations of women it reduces their motivation to pursue leadership (e.g., when exposed to media images of women in stereotypical roles, or female role models who activate gender stereotypes; Davies et al., 2005; Hoyt & Simon, 2011; Simon & Hoyt, 2013; also see Hentschel et al., 2020). Similarly, when women in traditionally male-dominated professions experience gender discrimination at work, they are less motivated to make sacrifices in other areas of life for the sake of advancing their career (Meeussen et al., 2020). Thus, despite lay conceptions of motivation as a trait-like feature – as if 'some people are motivated to be leaders, others are not' – the level of motivation individuals feel is shaped by external forces, including expressions of gender and racial discrimination. Additional research on this and related topics are available (e.g., Gutsell & Remedios, 2016; McNamara et al., 2010).

Why Gender and Racial Discrimination in Leadership Occurs

A lot of the discrimination and discriminatory outcomes described in the previous sections, adversely affecting women and racial minorities most notably, occur in professions, roles, and other contexts where women and minorities have traditionally been underrepresented. This is not a coincidence. It reflects the fact that this discrimination is, to some extent, a context-dependent process. Thus, contextual factors are key to understanding why this discrimination occurs (disproportionately so in these realms). In this section we outline key contextual factors (e.g., the role of stereotypes). We also briefly describe other lines of theorizing and research that further our understanding of what fuels gender and racial discrimination in and on the path to leadership.

Stereotypes and Perceived Incongruity

In line with the *lack of fit model* (Heilman, 1983) and *role congruity theory* (Eagly & Karau, 2002), discrimination can emerge when the stereotypes of a gender or racial group (e.g., women are not assertive) seem incongruent with the attributes considered necessary to be successful in a given context or role (e.g., leaders are, and need to be, assertive). Because people often make

inferences about an individual in line with the stereotypes of that individual's gender or race – by 'filling in the blanks' or selectively retaining stereotype-consistent information about them – they can end up with biased perceptions of the individual's true qualities and attributes. This includes seeing a female job applicant as less ambitious and less competent, and a male applicant as *more* ambitious and more competent, than she or he actually is. When these skewed perceptions of the individual are then evaluated against the qualities and attributes seen as necessary to be successful in that context or role – those required to be a successful leader, for example (e.g., being ambitious), the result is a biased evaluation of the individual's true suitability or fit for that context or role (in a similar vein, see work on leader evaluations and group prototypicality in the *social identity theory of leadership*; Haslam et al., 2011; Hogg, 2001; Hogg et al., 2012; Steffens et al., 2020). This amounts to disadvantage for some – when stereotypes about their gender or racial group are incongruent with the attributes ascribed to that context or role (e.g., those of women vs. leaders) – and unjustified *advantage* for others – when stereotypes about their gender or racial group are *congruent* with the attributes ascribed to that context or role (e.g., those of men and leaders).

Overall, these stereotypes and a corresponding perception of one's incongruity or lack of fit in certain contexts or roles can contribute to the myriad forms of discrimination discussed in previous sections (e.g., in *Discrimination on the Path to Leadership*), including evaluations of a female employee as less competent or worthy of a promotion compared to an identical male employee, with similar patterns of discrimination occurring along lines of race (and parental status). Moreover, this perceived incongruity, when felt inside, can also contribute to disparate internal states (e.g., stereotype threat, internalization of stereotypes).

For a more detailed discussion of these processes, see for example Heilman (2001, 2012). Notably, theory and research also suggest that discrimination tends to impact individuals who have a certain degree of ambiguity in their merits and qualifications (e.g., for a particular leadership position). When the individual being evaluated is neither exceptionally qualified nor exceptionally unqualified but instead 'somewhere in the middle' (arguably where most people are) this is where gender and racial biases tend to creep in and shape an evaluator's perceptions of and behaviors toward that individual (Begeny et al., 2020; Dovidio & Gaertner, 2000; Heilman & Haynes, 2008; Moss-Racusin et al., 2012). This speaks to the often insidious nature of gender and racial discrimination.

Research on related processes is also available, including on the *think manager-think male effect*, *masculine defaults*, and *ambient belonging* (Cheryan et al., 2009, 2017; Cheryan & Markus, 2020; Koenig et al., 2011; Peters et al., 2012, 2015; Schein, 1973). Research cited in previous sections also helps explicate these processes (see *Discrimination on the Path to Leadership*, *Discrimination at the Point of Leadership*, *Disparate Internal States*).

For a more general discussion on the nature and content of stereotypes, including how and why they develop, see literature on the *stereotype content model* (Fiske et al., 2002), *social role theory* (Koenig & Eagly, 2014), and the *developmental intergroup theory of social stereotypes and prejudice* (Bigler & Liben, 2006). Research on the pervasiveness and stability of stereotypes over time and cultures is also available (Diekman & Eagly, 2000; Eagly et al., 2020; Haines et al., 2016; Heilman & Eagly, 2008; Miller et al., 2015).

Other Mechanisms Underpinning Discrimination

Though outside the scope of this article, there are other lines of theory and research that also contribute to our understanding of how and why discrimination and discriminatory outcomes emerge. This includes literature on *aversive racism* (Dovidio & Gaertner, 2000), *modern sexism* (Swim et al., 1995), *ambivalent sexism* (Connor et al., 2016), *social dominance theory* (Pratto et al., 2006), *system justification theory* (Jost, 2019), and *realistic-*, *symbolic-*, and *prototypicality threat* (Danbold & Huo, 2017; Rios et al., 2018).

Critical Directions for Advancing Research on Gender, Race, and Leadership

Several emerging lines of research will be essential for advancing our understanding of gender, race, and leadership. Overall, there are at least two critical directions for future research. These include: (i) examining leadership processes from a more precise intersectional lens, rather than examining gender or race in isolation; (ii) developing and rigorously testing strategies to address the underrepresentation of women, racial minorities, and members of other underrepresented groups in leadership; this will also mean carefully scrutinizing the efficacy of popular strategies now being employed (e.g., implicit bias training).

Utilizing Intersectional Approaches

There is now a sizable body of research that examines the implications of gender and race for leadership. However, individually, most studies only examine one or the other: the implications of gender *or* race. Research considering gender *and* race together remains relatively scant. Considering leadership processes as a function of both individuals' gender and race is an important direction for research to go in. This will yield a more precise and accurate understanding of individuals' experiences in and on the path to leadership (e.g., the experiences of Black and Latina women) – a matter that is becoming ever more urgent by the growing diversity in workforces, academic institutions, political spheres, and other social domains. Such an understanding will also provide a more solid basis for developing effective interventions for addressing inequities in leadership (e.g., by providing insights on whether an intervention is likely to be most effective, or equally effective, for white, Black, and/or Latina women).

Fortunately, there is some previous work to build from, along with important theoretical and empirical insights at the intersection of gender and race more generally, which is ripe for being applied to the study of leadership (e.g., Cole, 2009; Else-Quest & Hyde, 2016; Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008). This includes work on intersectionality theory. The tenets of intersectionality theory are rooted in Black scholar activism and critical race theory, and the term was coined by Kimberlé Crenshaw (1989, 1990), a legal scholar who critiqued the single category-framework that dominated anti-discrimination law (e.g., the idea that companies could be liable for systematic bias against hiring Black individuals, or bias against hiring women, but could not be liable for systematic bias against hiring Black women). She illustrated through legal cases that Black women plaintiffs, while at times experiencing discrimination that was similar to white women or to Black men, also experienced discrimination that reflected a unique combination of practices that discriminated by race and gender. From this, Crenshaw described three ways in which multiply marginalized individuals may experience discrimination: additively (e.g., at times experiencing discrimination for being Black, other times experiencing discrimination for being a woman), multiplicatively (e.g., when the discrimination one faces for being Black is

exacerbated by the fact that they are also a woman), or through experiences specific to their status as multiply marginalized (e.g., experiences of discrimination that are not simply a function of being Black, or of being a woman, but those that are arise specifically as a function of being a *Black woman*). All of these are posited to be viable articulations of discrimination at the intersections of multiple marginalized social identities. At its heart, intersectionality theory calls for an examination of the interactions of overlapping sources of identity-based stigma, and an examination of how social structures and systems of power shape individuals' experiences. In this section, we describe different lines of research that utilize an intersectional perspective on gender and race, which shed light on leadership processes.

Unique Gender-by-Race Stereotypes.

Intersectionality calls for an understanding that the stereotypes of two or more social identities are not simply a combination of stereotypes associated with each of those identities. For example, the stereotypes of Black women are not simply a combination of stereotypes associated with "Black individuals" and "women." Rather, certain stereotypes are unique to Black women, including the stereotype of being assertive (for a descriptive list of gender and racial stereotypes, see, e.g., Ghavami & Peplau, 2013; also see Bowleg, 2008). As discussed earlier, "women" – but mainly reflecting *white* women – are stereotyped as relatively *un*assertive, which affects how they are evaluated in terms of their suitability and effectiveness as a leader, as well as their susceptibility to experiencing backlash. Yet because this stereotype does not carry over in the same way to Black women, the ways and conditions under which Black women are evaluated relatively positively or negatively differ. For instance, evidence indicates that Black women may experience less backlash for being assertive, but also be less likely to receive positive evaluations or promotions compared to white women (for a more detailed discussion, see Hall et al., 2019; also see Livingston et al., 2012; Opara et al., 2020; Rosette et al., 2016, 2018).

Still, more research is needed. This includes a more thorough understanding of stereotypes that exist at the intersections of important identities, and not just at a descriptive but also a prescriptive and proscriptive level – key to understanding the conditions under which they may experience backlash, for instance. This also includes studies that directly examine leadership evaluations of Black women compared to individuals with other intersecting identities (e.g., white women, Black men; Livingston et al., 2012; Livingston & Pearce, 2009; Sanchez-Hucles & Davis, 2010) and under varying conditions that illustrate an individual's adherence to, or violation of, certain racial or gender stereotypes (e.g., evaluations based on a leader's tendency to show emotions).

Gendered Races.

Research on *gendered races* also illustrates ways that the stereotypical content of individuals' gender and race are intimately bound together, with implications for how they are perceived and evaluated. It shows that racial groups have a gender-stereotypical content to them, such that Asian individuals are stereotypically feminine (compared to whites) and Black individuals are stereotypically masculine (compared to whites; Galinsky et al., 2013; Hall et al., 2019). This gendered content of race is also impacted by an individual's own gender. For instance, Black women are perceived as more masculine than white or Asian women, and *equally* masculine to Asian men (Hall et al., 2015).

Among other implications, this means individuals of different races and genders are evaluated differently in terms of suitability for certain roles. For instance, for stereotypically masculine leadership roles (e.g., those requiring an individual to be highly competitive), Black women are more likely to be nominated for these roles than white or Asian women (Galinsky et al., 2013).

Importantly however, this research also shows that despite Black men being more stereotypically masculine than white men, they are not more likely to be nominated for masculine leadership roles. If anything, they are *less* likely to be nominated than white men. Thus, there is not a simple linear effect of an individual's perceived masculinity on their evaluated suitability for masculine roles (Galinsky et al., 2013). Other elements of gender and racial stereotype content may be at play. For example, despite being perceived as more masculine, Black men may be less likely to be selected for masculine leadership positions compared to white men because they are also stereotyped as unintelligent (Ghavami & Peplau, 2013).

Intersectional Invisibility.

Another important line of work is on *intersectional invisibility*. This is the idea that being a non-prototypical member of a stigmatized social group results in being 'socially invisible,' which creates a "distinctive mixture of advantages and disadvantages" (Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008, p. 380). For instance, Black women are neither prototypical of their race (because of their gender) nor their gender (because of their race), which increases the likelihood that they will be 'overlooked' in various circumstances. In other words, the combination of their gender and race mean that they do not readily map on to others' pre-existing cognitive conceptions of a Black individual (the prototype is instead of a Black *man*), nor of a woman (the prototype is instead of a *white* woman), and so everything from their face to their behaviors to the ideas they share are more readily forgotten, misremembered, or overlooked.

For example, relevant to understanding how women of different races may experience discrimination on the path to or at the point of leadership, research on intersectional invisibility shows that Black women's contributions during discussions are more likely to be overlooked than those of white women, Black men, or white men. Specifically, their statements during conversation are more often incorrectly attributed as being said by someone else (Sesko & Biernat, 2010). Being overlooked in this way may hinder Black women in or on the path to leadership, as they are not given credit for their contributions. Further research is needed to assess whether this pattern of misattribution differs as a function of the quality of individuals' contributions (e.g., high vs. low quality contributions). This will be important for discerning whether the tendency to be overlooked has a mixture of positive and negative implications (e.g., if both high and low quality contributions are overlooked, or if just high quality contributions are overlooked). Additional research on the contextual nature and dynamics of intersectional invisibility is available (Bertrand & Mullainathan, 2004; Goff et al., 2008; McCluney & Rabelo, 2019; McMahon & Kahn, 2016; Thomas et al., 2014).

Considering Other Social Identities.

Future study of these processes will also need to consider other potentially relevant social identities, including those relating to sexuality, social class, religion, ability and neurodiversity, physical appearance, age, marital/relationship/family status, nationality and immigration status. Each of these identities have associated stereotypes, and it will be important to consider how the

stereotype content of each: (i) varies at the intersections of other identities, and (ii) ultimately shapes the way that an individual is viewed, both by others (e.g., as a capable leader) and by themselves (e.g., as having leadership potential). Similarly, going forward, it will be important to consider the leadership experiences of gender minorities. This includes how transgender and gender non-conforming individuals are perceived, evaluated, and treated when in or on the path to leadership. These lines of research will be able to build from some of the important insights that have already surfaced on the experiences of gender minorities and individuals with multiple marginalized identities (Doyle et al., 2021; Handron et al., 2017; Niedlich et al., 2015; Petsko & Bodenhausen, 2019; Warner & Shields, 2013).

Additional research on this and other related topics are available (e.g., on racialized genders; Bowleg, 2017; Fielden et al., 2010; Levin et al., 2002; Mukkamala & Suyemoto, 2018; Nicolas et al., 2017; Shields, 2016).

Helping to facilitate these lines of intersectional research further, some have developed guidelines and 'best practices' for conducting research from an intersectional perspective (McCormick-Huhn et al., 2019; Parent et al., 2013; Warner, 2008). Scholars similarly advise psychologists not to passively 'study intersectionality' but to actively engage with and consider the legitimacy of existing dynamics of social power and privilege (Moradi & Grzanka, 2017).

Developing and Testing Strategies for Addressing Gender- and Race-based Inequities

Efforts are underway to develop strategies to address discrimination against and the
underrepresentation of certain genders and races in and on the path to leadership. Indeed, this
constitutes the start of another critical direction for advancing research on gender, race, and
leadership. Although it is not feasible to describe all of the strategies and interventions that have
been considered in previous research, some of these will be discussed briefly.

Diversity Messaging and Cues

Within an environment there can be a range of subtle cues, if not more overt ones, that signal whether underrepresented groups *belong* in that space, which can have downstream effects for establishing and maintaining diversity in those environments, including in work organizations. In particular, these cues play a vital role in signalling the extent to which an organization recognizes and values underrepresented, socially marginalized, or generally diverse groups (Apfelbaum et al., 2016; Dovidio et al., 2007; Wolsko et al., 2000). For example, allocation of physical space to underrepresented groups (Kirby, Tabak, et al., 2020), diversity or inclusion statements (Purdie-Vaughns et al., 2008; Walker et al., 2012), and having a range of groups represented in an environment (Murphy et al., 2007; Unzueta & Binning, 2012) can all send signals to marginalized groups that symbolically validate their identities and improve their sense of belonging and performance – all of which can support individuals' motivation and access to leadership positions (e.g., Gündemir et al., 2017).

Diversity cues can vary in terms of the exact message they send about how an organization manages or views diversity (i.e., their *diversity approach* or ideology). For example, some organizations favor an "identity-blind" approach that deemphasizes group differences in favor of focusing on people's similarities as humans, rather than their differences (e.g., an organization communicating that they 'don't see race or gender, they just see 'employees''). This approach

may be seen in their diversity statement, in the types of initiatives they implement, or more broadly in the culture (e.g., how colleagues in an organization discuss diversity; Apfelbaum et al., 2012; Wolsko et al., 2000). This approach may have some benefits for women because it works against gender stereotypes and bias, and increases confidence and agency (see Koenig & Richeson, 2010; Martin & Phillips, 2016, 2017), which could have implications for women's leadership ambitions.

On the other hand, some organizations favor an "identity-aware" approach that instead emphasizes and celebrates group differences, potentially seeing these differences as valuable to the organization. This approach can be beneficial for racial minorities by helping to fulfil a desire for group-based recognition and affirmation (see Arends- Tóth & Vijver, 2003; Gündemir, Martin, et al., 2019; Huo et al., 2015; C. S. Ryan et al., 2007, 2010; Verkuyten, 2005; Wolsko et al., 2006).

Importantly however, each diversity approach may not be effective in all contexts (Apfelbaum et al., 2016), nor for all members of a marginalized group (e.g., individuals' responses to a particular diversity approach may differ depending on how strongly they identify with their marginalized group; Kirby, Rego, et al., 2020; Kirby & Kaiser, 2020; for an overview of diversity approaches from targets' perspectives, see Gündemir et al., 2019).

Diversity cues can also have unintended and pernicious consequences. For example, the presence of organizational diversity cues can lead to the *presumption* that those environments and their procedures are generally fair and non-discriminatory – even when there is evidence of bias in the environment (Brady et al., 2015; Dover et al., 2020; Kaiser et al., 2013; Kirby et al., 2015). Thus, going forward, careful assessment of an organization's diversity initiatives – including their potential benefits and pernicious consequences – will be key to advancing our understanding of gender, race, and leadership (also see Caleo & Heilman, 2019; Leslie, 2019).

Overview of Other Strategies.

Though additional research is needed to fully understand the benefits, limitations, and potential consequences of different strategies, there is some research to build from. Table 1 outlines several strategies proposed and/or tested, with resources for further reading. The strategies are organized into two general types: those that focus on "changing the individual" (e.g., changing individuals' own implicit biases) and those that focus on "changing the environment" *around* the individual (e.g., policies and procedures that limit the capacity for biases and discriminatory behaviors to creep in).

Given the limited testing of these strategies, it is hard to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of each. Still, some appear more promising than others. For example, one-off courses in implicit bias training are popular – implemented in over 8,000 Starbucks stores, for instance (Belluz, 2018). However, the effectiveness of these and other similar awareness-raising interventions appear quite limited (Bezrukova et al., 2016) and may have very little to no actual effect on individuals' tendency to exhibit discriminatory behavior (Forscher et al., 2019). In fact, implicit bias training may cause more harm than good (Payne & Vuletich, 2018; Pritlove et al., 2019). Similarly, campaigns imploring women to "lean in" and overcome their own "internal barriers" (lack of confidence, sense of being an 'impostor,' etc.) have become popular (Dickerson, 2019;

Sandberg, 2013). However, these "fix yourself" strategies, often espoused as a method of empowerment, perpetuate victim blaming – reinforcing the belief that the "problem" exists squarely within the individual (a problem of "internal barriers") and so it is the individual's responsibility to "fix" themselves; this misses the fact that ill confidence, impostor feelings, and other "internal barriers" often exist because of *external barriers* – exposure to stereotypes and discriminatory treatment – that lead women and other marginalized group members to question their value and worth (Feenstra et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2018).

By comparison, the more effective strategies appear to be those that focus on "changing the environment." This includes developing systems and policies that increase equity in individuals' access to mentorship and support, and developing clear and transparent goals for addressing underrepresentation, including through the use of quotas and affirmative action plans (though these strategies can also have certain drawbacks; Kalev et al., 2006; Morgenroth & Ryan, 2018). There also appears to be potential in pairing strategies that "change the environment" with those that aim to "change the individual" directly, especially when those "change the individual" strategies are implemented over long periods of time – not a brief, standalone event – and focus on providing individuals with tools for monitoring and improving their own everyday behavior (e.g., during interracial interactions) – not simply raising awareness about their own biases (Bezrukova et al., 2016; Kalev et al., 2006).

Resources for Implementing Strategies.

Building from this body of evidence, there are now some empirically-based resources for the use of certain strategies (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2020). It is important to recognize, however, that these guidelines remain limited by the availability of evidence, if not also their scope (e.g., focused on improving gender-related discrimination and outcomes, without an equal and integrated consideration of racial dynamics).

Table 1 Proposed Strategies for Addressing Issues of Bias, Discrimination and/or Underrepresentation*

Strategies Focused on 'Changing the Individual' (incl. the perpetrator or the target of bias/discrimination)	Further reading
Implicit Bias Training & Other Awareness Raising Efforts e.g., education on the benefits of diversity, increasing 'bias literacy' (knowledge of extant forms of bias and related processes)	Carnes et al., 2015; Forscher et al., 2019; S. M. Jackson et al., 2014; Payne & Vuletich, 2018; Pritlove et al., 2019
Skills-based Training e.g., how to practice stereotype replacement, perspective taking	Bezrukova et al., 2016; Carnes et al., 2015
'Lean in' or 'Self-Empowerment' Strategies e.g., encouraging women and other targets of discrimination to be more confident (in line with <i>assimilation</i> approaches)	Kim et al., 2018
Strategies Focused on 'Changing the Environment'	Further reading
Diversity Messages & Cues e.g., an organization's 'diversity statement'	See previous subsection on this topic
Quotas & Affirmative Action	Kalev et al., 2006; Morgenroth & Ryan, 2018; Shaughnessy et al., 2016
Equity-focused Approaches to Recruitment e.g., using gender-fair language in job advertisements	Gaucher et al., 2011; Hentschel et al., 2020; Horvath & Sczesny, 2016; Sczesny et al., 2016
Structured, Transparent, and/or Blind Evaluation Procedures e.g., removing applicant names [signalling gender or race], using pre-set interview questions, using transparent evaluation criteria that are predetermined and pre-weighted in terms of importance	Behaghel et al., 2015; Goldin & Rouse, 2000; Heilman & Caleo, 2018; Johnson & Kirk, 2020; Levashina et al., 2014; Uhlmann & Cohen, 2005
Inclusive and Supportive Family/Care Leave Policies (optional, mandated, and/or [un]paid)	Engen et al., 2012; Gault et al., 2014; Hyde et al., 1996; Vinkenburg et al., 2015; also see Morgenroth & Heilman, 2017; Rudman & Mescher, 2013; Williams et al., 2016
Increased Access to and Support of Employee Resource Groups (ERGs, or affinity groups)	Foldy, 2019; Welbourne et al., 2017; also see Begeny, 2019; Begeny et al., 2021; Begeny & Huo, 2017, 2018; Huo et al., 2015; Rodriguez et al., 2016
Increased Access to Role Models & Other Sources of Support, Guidance	Cheryan et al., 2011; Dennehy & Dasgupta, 2017; French et al., 2018; Morgenroth et al., 2015; Stout et al., 2011
Redefining Prototypes e.g., redefining 'what it takes' to be successful, or what 'the ideal person' looks like, in a particular role or profession	Danbold & Bendersky, 2018, 2019

Changing Stereotype-Laden Climates	
e.g., removing objects, symbols, group practices signalling that the	ıe
space 'belongs to' or is normative for a specific group, such as	
stereotypically masculine objects or practices signalling that the r	ole
or profession is a 'man's job'	

Cheryan et al., 2009; also see Cheryan et al., 2017; Heilman & Caleo, 2018

Conclusions

Several lines of theory and research demonstrate how, and why, gender and race are intimately connected to the study of leadership. This includes theory and research that help explain who tends to get placed in leadership roles (e.g., men, whites), what individuals' experiences are like while in those roles (e.g., experiencing disparate pay, glass cliffs), and what barriers they may face on the path to leadership (e.g., discriminatory hiring/promotion practices, biased evaluations of competence, backlash effects, motherhood penalties, inducement of disparate internal states).

Despite this wealth of literature, there is still much to be done in the study of gender, race, and leadership. This includes understanding leadership processes from a more precise, intersectional lens (rather than studying the implications of gender *or* race in isolation). Other relevant social identities also need to be carefully considered (e.g., related to class, religion, sexuality, ability and neurodiversity). Additionally, it will be important to develop effective strategies for addressing the underrepresentation of women, racial minorities, and other social groups in leadership. In part this will mean carefully scrutinizing strategies already being employed (e.g., implicit bias training). Ultimately, tackling issues of discrimination and a lack of diversity in leadership will be key to ensuring that organizations and other groups match the increasingly diverse populations they are embedded in, and embrace the full potential of their group members (both current and prospective). Moreover, tackling issues of discrimination and a lack of diversity in leadership will be essential for addressing broader issues of social inequity.

^{*} While these strategies are conceptually discrete, in practice they may influence one another (e.g., increasing representation of women and racial minorities via quotas may change stereotype-laden climates and group prototypes over time).

References

- Amanatullah, E. T., & Morris, M. W. (2010). Negotiating gender roles: Gender differences in assertive negotiating are mediated by women's fear of backlash and attenuated when negotiating on behalf of others. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(2), 256–267. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017094
- Apfelbaum, E. P., Norton, M. I., & Sommers, S. R. (2012). Racial Color Blindness: Emergence, Practice, and Implications. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21(3), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411434980
- Apfelbaum, E. P., Stephens, N. M., & Reagans, R. E. (2016). Beyond one-size-fits-all: Tailoring diversity approaches to the representation of social groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 111(4), 547–566. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000071
- Arends-Tóth, J., & Vijver, F. J. R. V. D. (2003). Multiculturalism and acculturation: Views of Dutch and Turkish–Dutch. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *33*(2), 249–266. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.143
- Atir, S., & Ferguson, M. J. (2018). How gender determines the way we speak about professionals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(28), 7278–7283. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805284115
- Barreto, M., Ellemers, N., Piebinga, L., & Moya, M. (2010). How Nice of Us and How Dumb of Me: The Effect of Exposure to Benevolent Sexism on Women's Task and Relational Self-Descriptions. *Sex Roles*, 62(7), 532–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9699-0
- Barreto, M., Ryan, M. K., & Schmitt, M. T. (2009). *The glass ceiling in the 21st century: Understanding barriers to gender equality* (pp. xvii, 334). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/11863-000
- Bear, J. B., & Glick, P. (2017). Breadwinner Bonus and Caregiver Penalty in Workplace Rewards for Men and Women. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 8(7), 780–788. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550616683016
- Bedi, G., Dam, N. T. V., & Munafo, M. (2012). Gender inequality in awarded research grants. *The Lancet*, *380*(9840), 474. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61292-6
- Begeny, C. T. (2019). The mental health pros and cons of minority spaces in the workplace. *The Conversation*. http://theconversation.com/the-mental-health-pros-and-cons-of-minority-spaces-in-the-workplace-107554
- Begeny, C. T., & Huo, Y. J. (2017). When identity hurts: How positive intragroup experiences can yield negative mental health implications for ethnic and sexual minorities. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 47(7), 803–817. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2292
- Begeny, C. T., & Huo, Y. J. (2018). Is it always good to feel valued? The psychological benefits and costs of higher perceived status in one's ethnic minority group. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 21(1), 193–213. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430216656922
- Begeny, C. T., Huo, Y. J., & Ryan, M. K. (2021). A leadership looking glass: How reflected appraisals of leadership shape individuals' own perceived prototypicality and group identification. *European Journal of Social Psychology*. Manuscript under revision
- Begeny, C. T., Ryan, M. K., Moss-Racusin, C. A., & Ravetz, G. (2020). In some professions, women have become well represented, yet gender bias persists—Perpetuated by those who think it is not happening. *Science Advances*, 6(26), eaba7814. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aba7814

- Behaghel, L., Crépon, B., & Le Barbanchon, T. (2015). Unintended Effects of Anonymous Résumés. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 7(3), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20140185
- Belluz, J. (2018, April 19). Companies like Starbucks love anti-bias training. But it doesn't work—And may backfire. *Vox.* https://www.vox.com/science-and-health/2018/4/19/17251752/philadelphia-starbucks-arrest-racial-bias-training
- Bench, S. W., Lench, H. C., Liew, J., Miner, K., & Flores, S. A. (2015). Gender Gaps in Overestimation of Math Performance. *Sex Roles*, 72(11), 536–546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-015-0486-9
- Bertrand, M., & Mullainathan, S. (2004). Are Emily and Greg More Employable Than Lakisha and Jamal? A Field Experiment on Labor Market Discrimination. *American Economic Review*, 94(4), 991–1013. https://doi.org/10.1257/0002828042002561
- Bezrukova, K., Spell, C. S., Perry, J. L., & Jehn, K. A. (2016). A meta-analytical integration of over 40 years of research on diversity training evaluation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(11), 1227–1274. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000067
- Bigelow, L., Lundmark, L., McLean Parks, J., & Wuebker, R. (2014). Skirting the Issues: Experimental Evidence of Gender Bias in IPO Prospectus Evaluations. *Journal of Management*, 40(6), 1732–1759. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206312441624
- Bigler, R. S., & Liben, L. S. (2006). A developmental intergroup theory of social stereotypes and prejudice. *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*, *34*, 39–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-2407(06)80004-2
- Bongiorno, R., Bain, P. G., & David, B. (2014). If you're going to be a leader, at least act like it! Prejudice towards women who are tentative in leader roles. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 53(2), 217–234. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12032
- Bowleg, L. (2008). When Black + Lesbian + Woman ≠ Black Lesbian Woman: The Methodological Challenges of Qualitative and Quantitative Intersectionality Research. *Sex Roles*, 59(5), 312–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9400-z
- Bowleg, L. (2017). Intersectionality: An underutilized but essential theoretical framework for social psychology. In *The Palgrave handbook of critical social psychology* (pp. 507–529). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-51018-1 25
- Brady, L. M., Kaiser, C. R., Major, B., & Kirby, T. A. (2015). It's fair for us: Diversity structures cause women to legitimize discrimination. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *57*, 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.11.010
- Brescoll, V. L. (2016). Leading with their hearts? How gender stereotypes of emotion lead to biased evaluations of female leaders. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(3), 415–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.02.005
- Brescoll, V. L., & Uhlmann, E. L. (2005). Attitudes Toward Traditional and Nontraditional Parents. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 29(4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2005.00244.x
- Brower, A., & James, A. (2020). Research performance and age explain less than half of the gender pay gap in New Zealand universities. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(1), e0226392. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226392
- Budig, M. J., & England, P. (2001). The Wage Penalty for Motherhood. *American Sociological Review*, 66(2), 204–225. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/2657415
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. (2019). *Labor force characteristics by race and ethnicity, 2018*. https://www.bls.gov/opub/reports/race-and-ethnicity/2018/home.htm

- Caleo, S., & Heilman, M. E. (2019). What could go wrong? Some unintended consequences of gender bias interventions. *Archives of Scientific Psychology*, 7(1), 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1037/arc0000063
- Carnes, M., Devine, P. G., Baier Manwell, L., Byars-Winston, A., Fine, E., Ford, C. E., Forscher, P., Isaac, C., Kaatz, A., Magua, W., Palta, M., & Sheridan, J. (2015). The effect of an intervention to break the gender bias habit for faculty at one institution: A cluster randomized, controlled trial. *Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 90(2), 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0000000000000552
- Catalyst. (2020). *Women in Management: Quick Take*. https://www.catalyst.org/research/women-in-management/
- Cheryan, S., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2000). When positive stereotypes threaten intellectual performance: The psychological hazards of "model minority" status. *Psychological Science*, *11*(5), 399–402. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00277
- Cheryan, S., & Markus, H. R. (2020). Masculine defaults: Identifying and mitigating hidden cultural biases. *Psychological Review*, No Pagination Specified-No Pagination Specified. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000209
- Cheryan, S., Plaut, V. C., Davies, P. G., & Steele, C. M. (2009). Ambient belonging: How stereotypical cues impact gender participation in computer science. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *97*(6), 1045–1060. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016239
- Cheryan, S., Siy, J. O., Vichayapai, M., Drury, B. J., & Kim, S. (2011). Do female and male role models who embody STEM stereotypes hinder women's anticipated success in STEM? *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 2(6), 656–664. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550611405218
- Cheryan, S., Ziegler, S. A., Montoya, A. K., & Jiang, L. (2017). Why are some STEM fields more gender balanced than others? *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(1), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000052
- Cohen, L. L., & Swim, J. K. (1995). The Differential Impact of Gender Ratios on Women and Men: Tokenism, Self-Confidence, and Expectations. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(9), 876–884. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295219001
- Cole, E. R. (2009). Intersectionality and research in psychology. *American Psychologist*, 64(3), 170–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014564
- Connor, R. A., Glick, P., & Fiske, S. T. (2016). Ambivalent Sexism in the Twenty-First Century. In C. G. Sibley & F. K. Barlow (Eds.), *The Cambridge Handbook of the Psychology of Prejudice* (pp. 295–320). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316161579.013
- Correll, S. J., Benard, S., & Paik, I. (2007). Getting a Job: Is There a Motherhood Penalty? *American Journal of Sociology*, 112(5), 1297–1339. https://doi.org/10.1086/511799
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989, 139–168.
- Crenshaw, K. (1990). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241–1300.
- Cuddy, A. J. C., Fiske, S. T., & Glick, P. (2004). When Professionals Become Mothers, Warmth Doesn't Cut the Ice. *Journal of Social Issues*, 60(4), 701–718. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-4537.2004.00381.x

- Danaher, K., & Branscombe, N. R. (2010). Maintaining the system with tokenism: Bolstering individual mobility beliefs and identification with a discriminatory organization. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 49(2), 343–362. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466609X457530
- Danbold, F., & Bendersky, C. (2018). Inverting Professional Prototypes Increases the Valuation of Women in Male-Dominated Professions. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2018(1), 17406. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2018.200
- Danbold, F., & Bendersky, C. (2019). Balancing Professional Prototypes Increases the Valuation of Women in Male-Dominated Professions. *Organization Science*, *31*(1), 119–140. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2019.1288
- Danbold, F., & Huo, Y. J. (2017). Men's defense of their prototypicality undermines the success of women in STEM initiatives. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 72, 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2016.12.014
- Davies, P. G., Spencer, S. J., & Steele, C. M. (2005). Clearing the Air: Identity Safety Moderates the Effects of Stereotype Threat on Women's Leadership Aspirations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(2), 276–287. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.2.276
- Dennehy, T. C., & Dasgupta, N. (2017). Female peer mentors early in college increase women's positive academic experiences and retention in engineering. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(23), 5964–5969. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1613117114
- Derks, B., Van Laar, C., & Ellemers, N. (2016). The queen bee phenomenon: Why women leaders distance themselves from junior women. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(3), 456–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.12.007
- Dickerson, D. (2019). How I overcame impostor syndrome after leaving academia. *Nature*, 574(7779), 588–588. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-019-03036-y
- Diekman, A. B., & Eagly, A. H. (2000). Stereotypes as dynamic constructs: Women and men of the past, present, and future. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(10), 1171–1188. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167200262001
- Dover, T. L., Kaiser, C. R., & Major, B. (2020). Mixed Signals: The Unintended Effects of Diversity Initiatives. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, *14*(1), 152–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12059
- Dovidio, J. F., & Gaertner, S. L. (2000). Aversive Racism and Selection Decisions: 1989 and 1999. *Psychological Science*, 11(4), 315–319. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00262
- Dovidio, J. F., Gaertner, S. L., & Saguy, T. (2007). Another view of "we": Majority and minority group perspectives on a common ingroup identity. *European Review of Social Psychology*, *18*(1), 296–330. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463280701726132
- Doyle, D. M., Begeny, C. T., Barreto, M., & Morton, T. A. (2021). Identity-Related Factors Protect Well-Being against Stigma for Transgender and Gender Non-Conforming People. *Archives of Sexual Behavior;* Manuscript under Revision.
- Eagly, A. H., & Carli, L. L. (2003). The female leadership advantage: An evaluation of the evidence. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *14*(6), 807–834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2003.09.004
- Eagly, A. H., & Karau, S. J. (2002). Role congruity theory of prejudice toward female leaders. *Psychological Review*, 109(3), 573–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.109.3.573
- Eagly, A. H., Makhijani, M. G., & Klonsky, B. G. (1992). Gender and the evaluation of leaders: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 111(1), 3.

- Eagly, A. H., Nater, C., Miller, D. I., Kaufmann, M., & Sczesny, S. (2020). Gender stereotypes have changed: A cross-temporal meta-analysis of U.S. public opinion polls from 1946 to 2018. *American Psychologist*, 75(3), 301–315. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000494
- Ellemers, N. (2014). Women at Work: How Organizational Features Impact Career Development. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *1*(1), 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732214549327
- Ellemers, N., Rink, F., Derks, B., & Ryan, M. K. (2012). Women in high places: When and why promoting women into top positions can harm them individually or as a group (and how to prevent this). *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *32*, 163–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2012.10.003
- Else-Quest, N. M., & Hyde, J. S. (2016). Intersectionality in Quantitative Psychological Research: I. Theoretical and Epistemological Issues. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40(2), 155–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684316629797
- ENAR. (2017). *Annual Report*. European Network Against Racism. https://www.enar-eu.org/ENAR-s-2017-Annual-Report-is-out
- ENAR, E. N. A. R. (2019). *Election Analysis: Ethnic minorities in the new European Parliament 2019-2025*. European Network Against Racism. https://www.enar-eu.org/ENAR-s-Election-Analysis-Ethnic-minorities-in-the-new-European-Parliament-2019
- Engen, M. L. van, Vinkenburg, C. J., & Dikkers, J. S. E. (2012). Sustainability in Combining Career and Care: Challenging Normative Beliefs about Parenting. *Journal of Social Issues*, 68(4), 645–664. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2012.01769.x
- Faniko, K., Ellemers, N., & Derks, B. (2020). The Queen Bee phenomenon in Academia 15 years after: Does it still exist, and if so, why? *British Journal of Social Psychology*, n/a(n/a), e12408. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12408
- Feenstra, S., Begeny, C. T., Ryan, M. K., Rink, F. A., Stoker, J. I., & Jordan, J. (2020). Contextualizing the Impostor "Syndrome." *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.575024
- Fielden, S. L., Davidson, M. J., Woolnough, H., & Hunt, C. (2010). A Model of Racialized Sexual Harassment of Women in the UK Workplace. *Sex Roles*, 62(1), 20–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9715-4
- Fiske, S. T., Cuddy, A. J. C., Glick, P., & Xu, J. (2002). A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: Competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(6), 878–902. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.878
- Foldy, E. G. (2019). Employee Resource Groups: What We Know about Their Impact on Individuals and Organizations. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2019(1), 10633. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2019.10633abstract
- Forscher, P. S., Lai, C. K., Axt, J. R., Ebersole, C. R., Herman, M., Devine, P. G., & Nosek, B. A. (2019). A meta-analysis of procedures to change implicit measures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *117*(3), 522–559. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000160
- French, K. A., Dumani, S., Allen, T. D., & Shockley, K. M. (2018). A meta-analysis of work–family conflict and social support. *Psychological Bulletin*, *144*(3), 284–314. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000120
- Fuegen, K., Biernat, M., Haines, E., & Deaux, K. (2004). Mothers and Fathers in the Workplace: How Gender and Parental Status Influence Judgments of Job-Related Competence.

- *Journal of Social Issues*, 60(4), 737–754. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-4537.2004.00383.x
- Gaither, S. E., Remedios, J. D., Schultz, J. R., & Sommers, S. R. (2015). Priming White identity elicits stereotype boost for biracial Black-White individuals. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 18(6), 778–787. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430215570504
- Galinsky, A. D., Hall, E. V., & Cuddy, A. J. C. (2013). Gendered Races: Implications for Interracial Marriage, Leadership Selection, and Athletic Participation. *Psychological Science*, 24(4), 498–506. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612457783
- Gaucher, D., Friesen, J., & Kay, A. C. (2011). Evidence that gendered wording in job advertisements exists and sustains gender inequality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(1), 109–128. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022530
- Gault, B., Hartmann, H., Hegewisch, A., Milli, J., & Reichlin, L. (2014). *Paid Parental Leave in the United States: What the Data Tell Us about Access, Usage, and Economic and Health Benefits*. Institute for Women's Policy Research. https://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/key_workplace/1600
- Ghavami, N., & Peplau, L. A. (2013). An intersectional analysis of gender and ethnic stereotypes: Testing three hypotheses. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *37*(1), 113–127. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684312464203
- Goff, P. A., Thomas, M. A., & Jackson, M. C. (2008). "Ain't I a woman?": Towards an intersectional approach to person perception and group-based harms. *Sex Roles*, *59*(5–6), 392–403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9505-4
- Goldin, C., & Rouse, C. (2000). Orchestrating Impartiality: The Impact of "Blind" Auditions on Female Musicians. *American Economic Review*, 90(4), 715–741. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.90.4.715
- Grunspan, D. Z., Eddy, S. L., Brownell, S. E., Wiggins, B. L., Crowe, A. J., & Goodreau, S. M. (2016). Males Under-Estimate Academic Performance of Their Female Peers in Undergraduate Biology Classrooms. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(2), e0148405. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148405
- Gündemir, S., Carton, A. M., & Homan, A. C. (2019). The impact of organizational performance on the emergence of Asian American leaders. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *104*(1), 107–122. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000347
- Gündemir, S., Dovidio, J. F., Homan, A. C., & De Dreu, C. K. W. (2017). The Impact of Organizational Diversity Policies on Minority Employees' Leadership Self-Perceptions and Goals. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 24(2), 172–188. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051816662615
- Gündemir, S., Homan, A. C., Dreu, C. K. W. de, & Vugt, M. van. (2014). Think Leader, Think White? Capturing and Weakening an Implicit Pro-White Leadership Bias. *PLOS ONE*, 9(1), e83915. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083915
- Gündemir, S., Martin, A. E., & Homan, A. C. (2019). Understanding diversity ideologies from the target's perspective: A review and future directions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00282
- Gutsell, J. N., & Remedios, J. D. (2016). When men lean out: Subtle reminders of child-raising intentions and men and women's career interests. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 67, 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2015.09.007

- Haines, E. L., Deaux, K., & Lofaro, N. (2016). The times they are a-changing ... or are they not? A comparison of gender stereotypes, 1983–2014. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40(3), 353–363. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684316634081
- Hall, E. V., Galinsky, A. D., & Phillips, K. W. (2015). Gender Profiling: A Gendered Race Perspective on Person–Position Fit. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 41(6), 853–868. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167215580779
- Hall, E. V., Hall, A. V., Galinsky, A. D., & Phillips, K. W. (2019). MOSAIC: A Model of Stereotyping Through Associated and Intersectional Categories. *Academy of Management Review*, 44(3), 643–672. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2017.0109
- Handron, C., Kirby, T. A., Wang, J., Matskewich, H. E., & Cheryan, S. (2017). Unexpected Gains: Being Overweight Buffers Asian Americans From Prejudice Against Foreigners. *Psychological Science*, 28(9), 1214–1227. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617720912
- Haslam, S. A., Reicher, S. D., & Platow, M. J. (2011). *The new psychology of leadership: Identity, influence and power* (pp. xxvi, 267). Psychology Press.
- Heilman, M. E. (1983). Sex bias in work settings: The Lack of Fit model. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *5*, 269–298.
- Heilman, M. E. (2001). Description and prescription: How gender stereotypes prevent women's ascent up the organizational ladder. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(4), 657–674. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00234
- Heilman, M. E. (2012). Gender stereotypes and workplace bias. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *32*, 113–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2012.11.003
- Heilman, M. E., & Blader, S. L. (2001). Assuming preferential selection when the admissions policy is unknown: The effects of gender rarity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(2), 188–193. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.2.188
- Heilman, M. E., & Caleo, S. (2018). Combatting gender discrimination: A lack of fit framework. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 21(5), 725–744. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430218761587
- Heilman, M. E., & Chen, J. J. (2005). Same Behavior, Different Consequences: Reactions to Men's and Women's Altruistic Citizenship Behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(3), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.431
- Heilman, M. E., & Eagly, A. H. (2008). Gender stereotypes are alive, well, and busy producing workplace discrimination. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *1*(4), 393–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1754-9434.2008.00072.x
- Heilman, M. E., & Haynes, M. C. (2005). No credit where credit is due: Attributional rationalization of women's success in male-female teams. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(5), 905–916. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.5.905
- Heilman, M. E., & Haynes, M. C. (2008). Subjectivity in the appraisal process: A facilitator of gender bias in work settings. In *Beyond common sense: Psychological science in the courtroom* (pp. 127–155). Blackwell Publishing.
- Heilman, M. E., & Okimoto, T. G. (2007). Why are women penalized for success at male tasks?: The implied communality deficit. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(1), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.81
- Heilman, M. E., & Okimoto, T. G. (2008). Motherhood: A potential source of bias in employment decisions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(1), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.1.189

- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., & Norenzayan, A. (2010). The weirdest people in the world? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 33(2–3), 61–83. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X0999152X
- Hentschel, T., Braun, S., Peus, C., & Frey, D. (2018). The communality-bonus effect for male transformational leaders leadership style, gender, and promotability. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 27(1), 112–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2017.1402759
- Hentschel, T., Braun, S., Peus, C., & Frey, D. (2020). Sounds like a fit! Wording in recruitment advertisements and recruiter gender affect women's pursuit of career development programs via anticipated belongingness. *Human Resource Management*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22043
- Hentschel, T., Heilman, M. E., & Peus, C. V. (2019). The Multiple Dimensions of Gender Stereotypes: A Current Look at Men's and Women's Characterizations of Others and Themselves. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00011
- Hodges, M. J., & Budig, M. J. (2010). Who Gets the Daddy Bonus?: Organizational Hegemonic Masculinity and the Impact of Fatherhood on Earnings. *Gender & Society*, 24(6), 717–745. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243210386729
- Hogg, M. A. (2001). A social identity theory of leadership. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *5*(3), 184–200. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327957PSPR0503_1
- Hogg, M. A., Knippenberg, D. van, & Rast III, D. E. (2012). The social identity theory of leadership: Theoretical origins, research findings, and conceptual developments. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 23(1), 258–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463283.2012.741134
- Holleran, S. E., Whitehead, J., Schmader, T., & Mehl, M. R. (2011). Talking Shop and Shooting the Breeze: A Study of Workplace Conversation and Job Disengagement Among STEM Faculty. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 2(1), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550610379921
- Horvath, L. K., & Sczesny, S. (2016). Reducing women's lack of fit with leadership positions? Effects of the wording of job advertisements. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 25(2), 316–328. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2015.1067611
- Hoyt, C. L., & Burnette, J. L. (2013). Gender Bias in Leader Evaluations: Merging Implicit Theories and Role Congruity Perspectives. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167213493643
- Hoyt, C. L., & Murphy, S. E. (2016). Managing to clear the air: Stereotype threat, women, and leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(3), 387–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.11.002
- Hoyt, C. L., & Simon, S. (2011). Female Leaders: Injurious or Inspiring Role Models for Women? *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *35*(1), 143–157. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684310385216
- Hunt, V., Yee, L., Prince, S., & Dixon-Fyle, S. (2018). *Delivering through diversity*. McKinsey. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/delivering-through-diversity
- Huo, Y. J., Binning, K. R., & Begeny, C. T. (2015). Respect and the viability of ethnically diverse institutions. In *Towards inclusive organizations: Determinants of successful diversity management at work.* (pp. 49–66). Psychology Press.

- Hutchinson, M., Mack, J., & Verhoeven, P. (2017). Women in leadership: An analysis of the gender pay gap in ASX-listed firms. *Accounting & Finance*, *57*(3), 789–813. https://doi.org/10.1111/acfi.12178
- Hyde, J. S., Essex, M. J., Clark, R., Klein, M. H., & Byrd, J. E. (1996). Parental Leave: Policy and Research. *Journal of Social Issues*, 52(3), 91–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1996.tb01581.x
- Jackson, P. B., Thoits, P. A., & Taylor, H. F. (1995). Composition of the Workplace and Psychological Well-Being: The Effects of Tokenism on America's Black Elite. *Social Forces*, 74(2), 543–557. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/2580491
- Jackson, S. M., Hillard, A. L., & Schneider, T. R. (2014). Using implicit bias training to improve attitudes toward women in STEM. *Social Psychology of Education*, *17*(3), 419–438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-014-9259-5
- Jagsi, R., Griffith, K. A., Stewart, A., Sambuco, D., DeCastro, R., & Ubel, P. A. (2012). Gender Differences in the Salaries of Physician Researchers. *JAMA*, 307(22). https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.6183
- Johnson, S. K., & Kirk, J. F. (2020). Dual-anonymization Yields Promising Results for Reducing Gender Bias: A Naturalistic Field Experiment of Applications for Hubble Space Telescope Time. *Publications of the Astronomical Society of the Pacific*, *132*(1009), 034503. https://doi.org/10.1088/1538-3873/ab6ce0
- Johnson, S. K., Murphy, S. E., Zewdie, S., & Reichard, R. J. (2008). The strong, sensitive type: Effects of gender stereotypes and leadership prototypes on the evaluation of male and female leaders. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 106(1), 39–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2007.12.002
- Joshi, A., Son, J., & Roh, H. (2015). When can women close the gap? A meta-analytic test of sex differences in performance and rewards. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(5), 1516–1545. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2013.0721
- Jost, J. T. (2019). A quarter century of system justification theory: Questions, answers, criticisms, and societal applications. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 58(2), 263–314. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12297
- Kaiser, C. R., & Hagiwara, N. (2011). Gender Identification Moderates Social Identity Threat Effects on Working Memory: *Psychology of Women Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684310384102
- Kaiser, C. R., Major, B., Jurcevic, I., Dover, T. L., Brady, L. M., & Shapiro, J. R. (2013). Presumed fair: Ironic effects of organizational diversity structures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 104(3), 504–519. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030838
- Kalev, A., Dobbin, F., & Kelly, E. (2006). Best Practices or Best Guesses? Assessing the Efficacy of Corporate Affirmative Action and Diversity Policies. *American Sociological Review*, 71(4), 589–617. https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240607100404
- Kanter, R. M. (1977). Some Effects of Proportions on Group Life: Skewed Sex Ratios and Responses to Token Women. *American Journal of Sociology*, 82(5), 965–990. JSTOR.
- Kim, J. Y., Fitzsimons, G. M., & Kay, A. C. (2018). Lean in messages increase attributions of women's responsibility for gender inequality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 115(6), 974–1001. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000129
- Kirby, T. A., & Kaiser, C. R. (2020). Person-Message Fit: Racial Identification Moderates the Benefits of Multicultural and Colorblind Diversity Approaches. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 0146167220948707. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167220948707

- Kirby, T. A., Kaiser, C. R., & Major, B. (2015). Insidious Procedures: Diversity Awards Legitimize Unfair Organizational Practices. *Social Justice Research*, 28(2), 169–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-015-0240-z
- Kirby, T. A., Rego, M. S., & Kaiser, C. R. (2020). Colorblind and multicultural diversity strategies create identity management pressure. *European Journal of Social Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2689
- Kirby, T. A., Tabak, J. A., Ilac, M., & Cheryan, S. (2020). The Symbolic Value of Ethnic Spaces. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *11*(7), 867–878. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550620913371
- Knight, J. L., Hebl, M. R., Foster, J. B., & Mannix, L. M. (2003). Out of Role? Out of Luck: The Influence of Race and Leadership Status on Performance Appraisals. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 9(3), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/107179190300900308
- Koch, A. J., D'Mello, S. D., & Sackett, P. R. (2015). A meta-analysis of gender stereotypes and bias in experimental simulations of employment decision making. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100(1), 128–161. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036734
- Koenig, A. M., & Eagly, A. H. (2014). Evidence for the social role theory of stereotype content: Observations of groups' roles shape stereotypes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 107(3), 371–392. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037215
- Koenig, A. M., Eagly, A. H., Mitchell, A. A., & Ristikari, T. (2011). Are leader stereotypes masculine? A meta-analysis of three research paradigms. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(4), 616–642. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023557
- Koenig, A. M., & Richeson, J. A. (2010). The contextual endorsement of sexblind versus sexaware ideologies. *Social Psychology*, 41(3), 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1027/1864-9335/a000026
- Kulich, C., Trojanowski, G., Ryan, M. K., Haslam, S. A., & Renneboog, L. D. R. (2011). Who gets the carrot and who gets the stick? Evidence of gender disparities in executive remuneration. *Strategic Management Journal*, *32*(3), 301–321. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.878
- Leslie, L. M. (2019). Diversity initiative effectiveness: A typological theory of unintended consequences. *The Academy of Management Review*, *44*(3), 538–563. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2017.0087
- Levashina, J., Hartwell, C. J., Morgeson, F. P., & Campion, M. A. (2014). The Structured Employment Interview: Narrative and Quantitative Review of the Research Literature. *Personnel Psychology*, 67(1), 241–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12052
- Levin, S., Sinclair, S., Veniegas, R. C., & Taylor, P. L. (2002). Perceived discrimination in the context of multiple group memberships. *Psychological Science*, *13*(6), 557–560. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00498
- Livingston, R. W., & Pearce, N. A. (2009). The teddy-bear effect: Does having a baby face benefit Black chief executive officers? *Psychological Science*, 20(10), 1229–1236. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02431.x
- Livingston, R. W., Rosette, A. S., & Washington, E. F. (2012). Can an Agentic Black Woman Get Ahead? The Impact of Race and Interpersonal Dominance on Perceptions of Female Leaders. *Psychological Science*, 23(4), 354–358. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611428079

- Longhi, S., & Brynin, M. (2017). *The ethnicity pay gap*. Equality and Human Rights Commission.
 - https://nls.ldls.org.uk/welcome.html?ark:/81055/vdc_100060606741.0x000001
- Lyness, K. S., & Heilman, M. E. (2006). When fit is fundamental: Performance evaluations and promotions of upper-level female and male managers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(4), 777–785. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.777
- Martin, A. E., & Phillips, K. W. (2016). What Blindness Helps Women See: Implications of Gender-Blindness for Confidence, Power and Action. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2016(1), 14581. https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.2016.14581abstract
- Martin, A. E., & Phillips, K. W. (2017). What "blindness" to gender differences helps women see and do: Implications for confidence, agency, and action in male-dominated environments. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *142*, 28–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2017.07.004
- McCluney, C. L., & Rabelo, V. C. (2019). Conditions of visibility: An intersectional examination of Black women's belongingness and distinctiveness at work. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 113, 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.09.008
- McCormick-Huhn, K., Warner, L. R., Settles, I. H., & Shields, S. A. (2019). What if psychology took intersectionality seriously? Changing how psychologists think about participants. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *43*(4), 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684319866430
- McMahon, J. M., & Kahn, K. B. (2016). Benevolent racism? The impact of target race on ambivalent sexism. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 19(2), 169–183. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430215583153
- McNamara, O., Howson, J., Gunter, H., & Fryers, A. (2010). *The leadership aspirations and careers of black and minority ethnic teachers*. NASUWT and National College for Leadership of Schools and Children's Services. /paper/The-leadership-aspirations-and-careers-of-black-and-Mcnamara-Howson/1ac941db23fb5bef89af8a5b4a2b26e747b10d74
- Meeussen, L., Begeny, C. T., Peters, K., & Ryan, M. K. (2020). In traditionally male-dominated fields, women are less willing to make sacrifices for their career because discrimination and lower fit with people up the ladder make sacrifices less worthwhile. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*. Manuscript under revision.
- Miller, D. I., Eagly, A. H., & Linn, M. C. (2015). Women's representation in science predicts national gender-science stereotypes: Evidence from 66 nations. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 107(3), 631–644. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu00000005
- Montgomery, N. V., & Cowen, A. P. (2020). How leader gender influences external audience response to organizational failures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 118(4), 639–660. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000176
- Moradi, B., & Grzanka, P. R. (2017). Using intersectionality responsibly: Toward critical epistemology, structural analysis, and social justice activism. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 64(5), 500–513. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000203
- Morgenroth, T., & Heilman, M. E. (2017). Should I stay or should I go? Implications of maternity leave choice for perceptions of working mothers. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 72, 53–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2017.04.008
- Morgenroth, T., Kirby, T. A., Ryan, M. K., & Sudkämper, A. (2020). The who, when, and why of the glass cliff phenomenon: A meta-analysis of appointments to precarious leadership

- positions. *Psychological Bulletin*, Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000234
- Morgenroth, T., & Ryan, M. K. (2018). Quotas and affirmative action: Understanding group-based outcomes and attitudes. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 12(3), e12374. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12374
- Morgenroth, T., Ryan, M. K., & Peters, K. (2015). The Motivational Theory of Role Modeling: How Role Models Influence Role Aspirants' Goals. *Review of General Psychology*, 19(4), 465–483. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000059
- Morgenroth, T., Ryan, M. K., Rink, F., & Begeny, C. T. (2020). The (in)compatibility of identities: Understanding gender differences in work-life conflict through the fit with leaders. *British Journal of Social Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12411
- Morley, L., & Crossouard, B. (2016). Gender in the neoliberalised global academy: The affective economy of women and leadership in South Asia. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *37*(1), 149–168. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2015.1100529
- Moss-Racusin, C. A., Dovidio, J. F., Brescoll, V. L., Graham, M. J., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Science faculty's subtle gender biases favor male students. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(41), 16474–16479. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211286109
- Mukkamala, S., & Suyemoto, K. L. (2018). Racialized sexism/sexualized racism: A multimethod study of intersectional experiences of discrimination for Asian American women. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 9(1), 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/aap0000104
- Murphy, M. C., Steele, C. M., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Signaling threat: How situational cues affect women in math, science, and engineering settings. *Psychological Science*, *18*(10), 879–885. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01995.x
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). *Addressing the Underrepresentation of Women in Science, Engineering, and Medicine*. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. https://www8.nationalacademies.org/pa/projectview.aspx?key=51113
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2020). *Promising Practices for Addressing the Underrepresentation of Women in Science, Engineering, and Medicine: Opening Doors*. The National Academies Press. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25585/promising-practices-for-addressing-the-underrepresentation-of-women-in-science-engineering-and-medicine
- Nicolas, G., la Fuente, M. de, & Fiske, S. T. (2017). Mind the overlap in multiple categorization: A review of crossed categorization, intersectionality, and multiracial perception. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 20(5), 621–631. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430217708862
- Niedlich, C., Steffens, M. C., Krause, J., Settke, E., & Ebert, I. D. (2015). Ironic Effects of Sexual Minority Group Membership: Are Lesbians Less Susceptible to Invoking Negative Female Stereotypes than Heterosexual Women? *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 44(5), 1439–1447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0412-1
- Niemann, Y. F., & Dovidio, J. F. (1998). Relationship of solo status, academic rank, and perceived distinctiveness to job satisfaction of racial/ethnic minorities. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(1), 55–71. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.1.55
- Nosek, B. A., Banaji, M. R., & Greenwald, A. G. (2002). Math = male, me = female, therefore math \neq me. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(1), 44–59. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.1.44

- Nosek, B. A., & Smyth, F. L. (2011). Implicit Social Cognitions Predict Sex Differences in Math Engagement and Achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(5), 1125–1156. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831211410683
- Okimoto, T. G., & Brescoll, V. L. (2010). The Price of Power: Power Seeking and Backlash Against Female Politicians. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *36*(7), 923–936. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167210371949
- Opara, V., Sealy, R., & Ryan, M. K. (2020). The workplace experiences of BAME professional women: Understanding experiences at the intersection. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12456
- Parent, M. C., DeBlaere, C., & Moradi, B. (2013). Approaches to research on intersectionality: Perspectives on gender, LGBT, and racial/ethnic identities. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, 68(11–12), 639–645. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-013-0283-2
- Paustian-Underdahl, S. C., Walker, L. S., & Woehr, D. J. (2014). Gender and perceptions of leadership effectiveness: A meta-analysis of contextual moderators. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(6), 1129–1145. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036751
- Payne, B. K., & Vuletich, H. A. (2018). Policy Insights From Advances in Implicit Bias Research. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *5*(1), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732217746190
- PayScale. (2020a). *The racial wage gap persists in 2020*. https://www.payscale.com/data/racial-wage-gap
- PayScale. (2020b). *The State of the Gender Pay Gap 2020*. https://www.payscale.com/data/gender-pay-gap
- Peters, K., Ryan, M., Haslam, S. A., & Fernandes, H. (2012). To belong or not to belong: Evidence that women's occupational disidentification is promoted by lack of fit with masculine occupational prototypes. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 11(3), 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000067
- Peters, K., Ryan, M. K., & Haslam, S. A. (2015). Marines, medics, and machismo: Lack of fit with masculine occupational stereotypes discourages men's participation. *British Journal of Psychology*, 106(4), 635–655. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12106
- Petsko, C. D., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2019). Racial stereotyping of gay men: Can a minority sexual orientation erase race? *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 83, 37–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2019.03.002
- Phelan, J. E., & Rudman, L. A. (2010). Reactions to ethnic deviance: The role of backlash in racial stereotype maintenance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 99(2), 265–281. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018304
- Player, A., Randsley de Moura, G., Leite, A. C., Abrams, D., & Tresh, F. (2019). Overlooked Leadership Potential: The Preference for Leadership Potential in Job Candidates Who Are Men vs. Women. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00755
- Pratto, F., Sidanius, J., & Levin, S. (2006). Social dominance theory and the dynamics of intergroup relations: Taking stock and looking forward. *European Review of Social Psychology*, *17*(1), 271–320. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463280601055772
- Pritlove, C., Juando-Prats, C., Ala-leppilampi, K., & Parsons, J. A. (2019). The good, the bad, and the ugly of implicit bias. *The Lancet*, *393*(10171), 502–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32267-0

- Purdie-Vaughns, V., & Eibach, R. P. (2008). Intersectional invisibility: The distinctive advantages and disadvantages of multiple subordinate-group identities. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, *59*(5–6), 377–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9424-4
- Purdie-Vaughns, V., Steele, C. M., Davies, P. G., Ditlmann, R., & Crosby, J. R. (2008). Social identity contingencies: How diversity cues signal threat or safety for African Americans in mainstream institutions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *94*(4), 615–630. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.94.4.615
- Quilliana, L., Pager, D., Hexel, O., & Midtbøen, A. H. (2017). Meta-analysis of field experiments shows no change in racial discrimination in hiring over time. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(41), 10870–10875.
- Régner, I., Thinus-Blanc, C., Netter, A., Schmader, T., & Huguet, P. (2019). Committees with implicit biases promote fewer women when they do not believe gender bias exists. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *3*(11), 1171–1179. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0686-3
- Richard, N. T., & Wright, S. C. (2010). Advantaged group members' reactions to tokenism. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 13(5), 559–569. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430210362227
- Rios, K., Sosa, N., & Osborn, H. (2018). An experimental approach to Intergroup Threat Theory: Manipulations, moderators, and consequences of realistic vs. symbolic threat. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 29(1), 212–255. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463283.2018.1537049
- Rivera, L. A. (2017). When Two Bodies Are (Not) a Problem: Gender and Relationship Status Discrimination in Academic Hiring. *American Sociological Review*, 82(6), 1111–1138. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122417739294
- Rodriguez, J. K., Holvino, E., Fletcher, J. K., & Nkomo, S. M. (2016). The Theory and Praxis of Intersectionality in Work and Organisations: Where Do We Go From Here? *Gender*, *Work & Organization*, 23(3), 201–222. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12131
- Rosette, A. S., Koval, C. Z., Ma, A., & Livingston, R. (2016). Race matters for women leaders: Intersectional effects on agentic deficiencies and penalties. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(3), 429–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.01.008
- Rosette, A. S., Leonardelli, G. J., & Phillips, K. W. (2008). The White standard: Racial bias in leader categorization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(4), 758–777. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.4.758
- Rosette, A. S., Ponce de Leon, R., Koval, C. Z., & Harrison, D. A. (2018). Intersectionality: Connecting experiences of gender with race at work. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *38*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2018.12.002
- Rudman, L. A., & Mescher, K. (2013). Penalizing Men Who Request a Family Leave: Is Flexibility Stigma a Femininity Stigma? *Journal of Social Issues*, 69(2), 322–340. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12017
- Rudman, L. A., & Phelan, J. E. (2008). Backlash effects for disconfirming gender stereotypes in organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 28, 61–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2008.04.003
- Ryan, C. S., Casas, J. F., & Thompson, B. K. (2010). Interethnic ideology, intergroup perceptions, and cultural orientation. *Journal of Social Issues*, 66(1), 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2009.01631.x
- Ryan, C. S., Hunt, J. S., Weible, J. A., Peterson, C. R., & Casas, J. F. (2007). Multicultural and colorblind ideology, stereotypes, and ethnocentrism among Black and White Americans.

- *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, *10*(4), 617–637. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430207084105
- Ryan, M. K., Begeny, C. T., Bongiorno, R., Kirby, T. A., & Morgenroth, T. (2020). Understanding Barriers to Workplace Equality: A Focus on the Target's Perspective. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01279
- Ryan, M. K., & Haslam, S. A. (2005). The Glass Cliff: Evidence that Women are Over-Represented in Precarious Leadership Positions. *British Journal of Management*, *16*(2), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8551.2005.00433.x
- Ryan, M. K., & Haslam, S. A. (2007). The Glass Cliff: Exploring the Dynamics Surrounding the Appointment of Women to Precarious Leadership Positions. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(2), 549–572. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2007.24351856
- Sackett, P. R., DuBois, C. L., & Noe, A. W. (1991). Tokenism in performance evaluation: The effects of work group representation on male-female and White-Black differences in performance ratings. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(2), 263–267. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.76.2.263
- Sanchez-Hucles, J. V., & Davis, D. D. (2010). Women and women of color in leadership: Complexity, identity, and intersectionality. *American Psychologist*, 65(3), 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017459
- Sandberg, S. (2013). Lean in: Women, work, and the will to lead (p. 228). Alfred A. Knopf.
- Schein, V. E. (1973). The relationship between sex role stereotypes and requisite management characteristics. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *57*(2), 95–100. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0037128
- Sczesny, S., Formanowicz, M., & Moser, F. (2016). Can Gender-Fair Language Reduce Gender Stereotyping and Discrimination? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00025
- Sesko, A. K., & Biernat, M. (2010). Prototypes of race and gender: The invisibility of Black women. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 46(2), 356–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2009.10.016
- Shapiro, J. R., & Neuberg, S. L. (2007). From Stereotype Threat to Stereotype Threats: Implications of a Multi-Threat Framework for Causes, Moderators, Mediators, Consequences, and Interventions. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 11(2), 107–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868306294790
- Shaughnessy, B. A., Braun, S., Hentschel, T., & Peus, C. V. (2016). Diverse and just? The role of quota-based selection policies on organizational outcomes. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 46(7), 880–890. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2208
- Shaughnessy, B. A., Mislin, A. A., & Hentschel, T. (2015). Should He Chitchat? The Benefits of Small Talk for Male Versus Female Negotiators. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 37(2), 105–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2014.999074
- Shen, H. (2013). Inequality quantified: Mind the gender gap. *Nature*, *495*(7439), 22. https://doi.org/10.1038/495022a
- Shields, S. A. (2016). X. Functionalism, Darwinism, and intersectionality: Using an intersectional perspective to reveal the appropriation of science to support the status quo. *Feminism & Psychology*, 26(3), 353–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353516655371
- Shih, M. J., Pittinsky, T. L., & Ho, G. C. (2012). Stereotype boost: Positive outcomes from the activation of positive stereotypes. In *Stereotype threat: Theory, process, and application* (pp. 141–156). Oxford University Press.

- Simon, S., & Hoyt, C. L. (2013). Exploring the effect of media images on women's leadership self-perceptions and aspirations. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 16(2), 232–245. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430212451176
- Spencer, S. J., Logel, C., & Davies, P. G. (2016). Stereotype Threat. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67(1), 415–437. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-073115-103235
- Stamkou, E., van Kleef, G. A., Homan, A. C., Gelfand, M. J., van de Vijver, F. J. R., van Egmond, M. C., Boer, D., Phiri, N., Ayub, N., Kinias, Z., Cantarero, K., Efrat Treister, D., Figueiredo, A., Hashimoto, H., Hofmann, E. B., Lima, R. P., & Lee, I.-C. (2019). Cultural Collectivism and Tightness Moderate Responses to Norm Violators: Effects on Power Perception, Moral Emotions, and Leader Support. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 45(6), 947–964. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167218802832
- Steele, C. M. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, 52(6), 613–629. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.52.6.613
- Steffens, N. K., Munt, K. A., van Knippenberg, D., Platow, M. J., & Haslam, S. A. (2020). Advancing the social identity theory of leadership: A meta-analytic review of leader group prototypicality. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 2041386620962569. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386620962569
- Stout, J. G., Dasgupta, N., Hunsinger, M., & McManus, M. A. (2011). STEMing the tide: Using ingroup experts to inoculate women's self-concept in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM). *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 100(2), 255–270. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021385
- Swim, J. K., Aikin, K. J., Hall, W. S., & Hunter, B. A. (1995). Sexism and racism: Old-fashioned and modern prejudices. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(2), 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.68.2.199
- Sy, T., Shore, L. M., Strauss, J., Shore, T. H., Tram, S., Whiteley, P., & Ikeda-Muromachi, K. (2010). Leadership perceptions as a function of race—occupation fit: The case of Asian Americans. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(5), 902–919. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019501
- Tharenou, P. (2001). Going Up? Do Traits and Informal Social Processes Predict Advancing in Management? *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(5), 1005–1017. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069444
- Thomas, E. L., Dovidio, J. F., & West, T. V. (2014). Lost in the categorical shuffle: Evidence for the social non-prototypicality of Black women. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(3), 370–376. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035096
- Treviño, L. J., Gomez-Mejia, L. R., Balkin, D. B., & Mixon, F. G. (2018). Meritocracies or Masculinities? The Differential Allocation of Named Professorships by Gender in the Academy. *Journal of Management*, 44(3), 972–1000. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315599216
- Uhlmann, E. L., & Cohen, G. L. (2005). Constructed Criteria: Redefining Merit to Justify Discrimination. *Psychological Science*, *16*(6), 474–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0956-7976.2005.01559.x
- Unzueta, M. M., & Binning, K. R. (2012). Diversity Is in the Eye of the Beholder: How Concern for the In-Group Affects Perceptions of Racial Diversity. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *38*(1), 26–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167211418528

- van Laar, C., Meeussen, L., Veldman, J., Van Grootel, S., Sterk, N., & Jacobs, C. (2019). Coping With Stigma in the Workplace: Understanding the Role of Threat Regulation, Supportive Factors, and Potential Hidden Costs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01879
- van Veelen, R., Veldman, J., van Laar, C., & Derks, B. (2020). Distancing from a stigmatized social identity: State of the art and future research agenda on self-group distancing. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *50*(6), 1089–1107. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2714
- Verkuyten, M. (2005). Ethnic Group Identification and Group Evaluation Among Minority and Majority Groups: Testing the Multiculturalism Hypothesis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 88(1), 121–138. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.1.121
- Vial, A. C., Napier, J. L., & Brescoll, V. L. (2016). A bed of thorns: Female leaders and the self-reinforcing cycle of illegitimacy. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(3), 400–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.12.004
- Vinkenburg, C. J., Engen, M. L. V., & Peters, C. P. (2015). Promoting new norms and true flexibility: Sustainability in combining career and care. In *Handbook of Research on Sustainable Careers* (pp. 131–145). Edward Elgar. https://www.elgaronline.com/view/edcoll/9781782547020/9781782547020.xml
- Walker, H. J., Feild, H. S., Bernerth, J. B., & Becton, J. B. (2012). Diversity cues on recruitment websites: Investigating the effects on job seekers' information processing. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *97*(1), 214–224. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025847
- Walton, G. M., & Cohen, G. L. (2003). Stereotype Lift. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *39*(5), 456–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1031(03)00019-2
- Walton, G. M., Murphy, M. C., & Ryan, A. M. (2015). Stereotype Threat in Organizations: Implications for Equity and Performance. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 2(1), 523–550. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111322
- Walton, G. M., & Spencer, S. J. (2009). Latent Ability: Grades and Test Scores Systematically Underestimate the Intellectual Ability of Negatively Stereotyped Students. *Psychological Science*, 20(9), 1132–1139. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02417.x
- Warner, L. R. (2008). A best practices guide to intersectional approaches in psychological research. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, *59*(5–6), 454–463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9504-5
- Warner, L. R., & Shields, S. A. (2013). The Intersections of Sexuality, Gender, and Race: Identity Research at the Crossroads. *Sex Roles*, 68(11), 803–810. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-013-0281-4
- Welbourne, T. M., Rolf, S., & Schlachter, S. (2017). The case for employee resource groups: A review and social identity theory-based research agenda. *Personnel Review*, 46(8), 1816–1834. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-01-2016-0004
- Williams, J. C., Berdahl, J. L., & Vandello, J. A. (2016). Beyond Work-Life "Integration." *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67(1), 515–539. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033710
- Williams, M. J., & Tiedens, L. Z. (2016). The subtle suspension of backlash: A meta-analysis of penalties for women's implicit and explicit dominance behavior. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(2), 165–197. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000039

- Wolsko, C., Park, B., & Judd, C. M. (2006). Considering the Tower of Babel: Correlates of Assimilation and Multiculturalism among Ethnic Minority and Majority Groups in the United States. *Social Justice Research*, *19*(3), 277–306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-006-0014-8
- Wolsko, C., Park, B., Judd, C. M., & Wittenbrink, B. (2000). Framing interethnic ideology: Effects of multicultural and color-blind perspectives on judgments of groups and individuals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(4), 635–654. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.4.635
- Wright, S. C. (2001). Restricted intergroup boundaries: Tokenism, ambiguity, and the tolerance of injustice. In *The psychology of legitimacy: Emerging perspectives on ideology, justice, and intergroup relations* (pp. 223–254). Cambridge University Press.
- Xu, Y. J. (2008). Gender Disparity in STEM Disciplines: A Study of Faculty Attrition and Turnover Intentions. *Research in Higher Education*, 49(7), 607–624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-008-9097-4
- Ziegert, J. C., & Hanges, P. J. (2005). Employment discrimination: The role of implicit attitudes, motivation, and a climate for racial bias. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(3), 553–562. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.553
- Zigerell, L. J. (2017). Potential publication bias in the stereotype threat literature: Comment on Nguyen and Ryan (2008). *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(8), 1159–1168. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000188